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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

TIDE NATURAL GAS STORAGE |, L.P. and
TIDE NATURAL GAS STORAGE II, L.P.,

Plaintiffs/Counterclaim
Defendants,

-against- Opinio& Order
10 Civ. 5821

FALCON GAS STORAGE COMPANY, INC.;

Defendant/Counterclaim
andCrossclaimPlaintiff,

ARCAPITA BANK B.S.C.; and ARCAPITA,
INC.;

Defendants,

and HSBC BANK USA, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION,

Defendant/Crossclaim
Defendant.

KIMBA M. WOOD, U.S.D.J.:

Plaintiffs/CounterclainbDefendants Tide Natural Gas Storage I, L.P. and Tide
Natural Gas Storage I, L.P. (colleatly, “Tide”) bring this action against
Defendant/Counterclaim/Crossclaim Pldfrffalcon Gas Storage Company, Inc.
(“Falcon”) and Defendants Arcapita Bank3BC.(c) and Arcapita, Inc. (together,
“Arcapita”). Tide's claims—which sound icommon law fraud, securities fraud, breach
of warranty, and breach of contract—arise@utide’s purchase dfalcon’s interest in

the NorTex Gas Storage @pany, LLC (“NorTex”).
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Four motions are now before the Coufirst, Falcon and Arcapita (collectively
“Defendants”) move for judgment on theeptlings dismissing Tide’s Complaint,
pursuant to Federal Rule ofviliProcedure Rule 12(c).

The remaining three motions relate tmdls that are currég being held in
escrow pursuant to the purchase agreenfentdorTex. Tide, in the Fifth Cause of
Action of its Complaint, seeks a permanefametion restraining thdisbursement of the
escrowed funds. Falcon and Arcapita mbepartial summary judgment dismissing
Tide’s claim for a permanent injunctiofralcon has also filed a Counterclaim and
Crossclaim, the First Causé Action of which seeks a judgment declaring that
Defendant HSBC Bank USAational Association (“HSBC”) must disburse the
escrowed funds to Falcon. Falcon moves for partial summary judgment on this request
for declaratory relief. Finally, Tide crossewes for an order of attachment against the
debts and property of Falcon and Arcapitahie event that the escrowed funds are
released.

For the reasons stated below, thain€¢a) DENIES Falcon’s and Arcapita’s
motion for judgment on the pleadings; MENIES Falcon’s and Arcapita’s motion for
partial summary judgment dismissing the Fifthuse of Action of Tide’s Complaint; (c)
DENIES Falcon’s motion for partial summgundgment on the First Cause of Action of
its Counterclaim and Crossclaim; and (d) DENITide’s cross-motion for an order of
attachment.

BACKGROUND



|.  The Underlying Dispute*

A. Tide's Purchase of NorTex

On March 15, 2010, Tide and Falcon entleirdo a Purchase Agreement in which
Tide agreed to purchase Fai¢s 100 percent interest MorTex, an operator of two
natural gas storage reservoirs in Tebas515 million. (Compl. 1 12-13.) On March
29, 2010—two days before the NorTex acdiasi was scheduled to close—a group of
Falcon’s minority shareholders filed lawsuitsTexas courts @lectively, the “Hopper
Litigation”) in an effort to stop the defilom closing. (Plaintiff's Response to
Defendants’ Statement of Undisputed andévial Facts Pursuam Rule 56.1 (“Pl.’s
56.1 Resp.”) 1 15.) The Hopper Litigatiplaintiffs also filed notices dis pendensin
Jack and Eastland Counties, in which the NorfBexities (the “Fadities”) are located.
(Id.118.)

In order to ensure that the NorTex dealuld close despite the Hopper Litigation,
the parties to the instant action entered aii@amended Purchase Agreement (“Amended
Agreement”) and an Escrow Agreement (attikely, the “Agreements”). The parties
designed the Escrow Agreement to protect Tiide any expenses or liability that might
be incurred in connection with the Hopper Litigation. {I1.24, 36.) The Escrow
Agreement provided that $70 million of tharchase price (the “Escrowed Amount”)

would be placed into escrow with HSBC. jlid.

! Unless otherwise noted, the following faire undisputed and are taken from the
parties’ Local Rule 56.1 statements, affids, and other submissions. The Court
construes all evidence in a light mostdeable to the non-mong party, and draws all
inferences in the non-moving party’s favor. See, &ledge v. Kogi564 F.3d 105, 108
(2d Cir. 2009).




Disbursement of the Escrowed Amoumgoverned by Section 3.7(a) of the
Amended Agreement. That provision statest Tide and Fatm “shall deliver to
[HSBC] joint instructions talisburse the balance of the Escrowed Amount” upon the
occurrence of either one of thdléaving “Escrow Breakage Triggers”:

0] a final non-appealable ordef each court of competent

jurisdiction with respect to the Hopper Claim or

(i) (A) an agreed dismissal with poelice of the Hopper Claim . . .,

(B) a complete release by all of the Participants under the Hopper

Claim.. ., and

(C) the final non-appealable rake or expungement of the Lis

Pendens . . ..

(Anderson Decl., Ex. B 8§ 3.7(a).) With thedgoing agreements in place, and with the
Escrowed Amount deposited at HSBC, the NexTransaction clesl on April 1, 2010.
(Pl’s 56.1 Resp. 1 35.)

On July 27, 2010, Falcon and the Hopper Litigation plaintiffs entered into a
written settlement agreement. (fd39.) The actions were dismissed with prejudice
when the Hopper Litigation plaintiffs filed namss in each of the courts in which their
actions were pending, and the court istieand County entered orders expunging the
notices oflis pendens. (Id. 117 40, 42.)

On August 2, 2010, Tide filed this lawkagainst Falcon and Arcapita. (Dkt. No.
1.)

ll. Procedural History
Tide’s Complaint contains five clainfigr relief based on misstatements allegedly

made by Falcon and Arcapita in connection wlith sale of NorTex. (Compl. ] 10-11.)

Tide states that Falcon masieecific representations regardithe quantities and value of



“pad gas® contained in the storadacilities, the operating costs associated with the
consumption of fuel in the facilities’ opdi@n, and the source of hydrocarbons extracted
during the operation of NorTex’s natugas liquid extraction plants. (ldt § 14.) Tide
states that, after closing time purchase of NorTex, it conducted engineering analyses
that revealed a shortfall of billions ofibic feet of NorTex’s pad gas. (lak § 25.) Tide
says that it also discovered that Falcod haither recorded nor accounted for the fuel
used to compress the gas for storage andtbatonsumption of fuel in that compression
process had further depletdee quantities of gas within the facilities. (.9 27.)

Finally, Tide states that itsb learned that Falcon did not calculate or account for
“shrinkage” in gas quantities resulting fronetextraction of natural gas liquids from the
storage facilities. _(ldat § 30.) Tide estimates thentoined economic impact of the gas
shortfalls and omitted operating exiges at more than $70 million. (kat 71 37-39.)

Tide brings five claims forelief based on these misstaents. First, Tide alleges
that Falcon and Arcapita fraudulently misregaeted material facts about the value of
NorTex on which Tide relied in its decisiongarchase the facilitySecond, Tide alleges
that Falcon breached express warrantiesRakton made in the Amended Agreement for
NorTex. Third, Tide brings a breach afrtract claim, on thground that Falcon failed
to deliver all of the assets representethmmAmended Agreement. Fourth, Tide claims
that Falcon’s misrepresentations violasedtion 10 and Rule 10b-5 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. Finally, Tide seekpermanent injunction restraining HSBC
from disbursing any funds from the Escréwcount, except pursuaito Section 3.7 of

the Purchase Agreement.

2Pad gas is the base amount of gas necetsamgintain storage field pressure and
deliverability of the gas customers have stored in the facility.
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Defendants Falcon and Arcapita answerete’s Complaint, and Defendant
Falcon filed a Counterclaim and Crossclaingéeking a declaratory judgment ordering
the disbursement of the funds in the EscAawount and (2) alleging breach of contract
by Tide. (Sedefs.” Ans. & Countercl., Dkt. No. 6.Yide asserted various affirmative
defenses to Falcon’s counterclaims, inchgdihat: (1) “Falcon’slaims fail because
[Falcon] is not entitled tenforce the provisions of agreents procured by fraud”; (2)
“Falcon’s claims fail because the fraudlie underlying transaction supersedes the
obligations set forth in the E®ow and Purchase Agreements”; and (3) “Falcon’s claims
are barred because Tide is entitled srigsion of the Purchase Agreement.” (Bes
Ans. to Defs.” Countercl., Dkt. No. 29, 11 46, 48, 52.)

DISCUSSION
|. Defendants’ Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings
A. Overview

Defendants move, pursuant to Rulec2for judgment on the pleadings
dismissing Claims | through IV of TideGomplaint. Defendants offer four main
grounds on which they argue that the clagheuld be dismissed-irst, Defendants note
that, in the Amended Agreement, Tiebepressly disclaims reliance on any
representations or warrargieutside of Section IV dhe Amended Agreement.
Defendants argue that Claims | through 1V of the Complaint are not actionable because
they are based on alleged misrepresentatimatsvere not included in Article IV.
Second, Defendants note that because the AateAgreement limits Tide’s remedies to
actions for breach of the indemnity provisiomgje’s common law fraud claim should be

dismissed. Third, Defendants contend that Tide failed to plead its federal securities fraud



claims with the particularity required undsggplicable law. Fially, Defendants argue
that Tide failed to support its commomidraud and securities fraud claims with
adequate allegations of scienter.

B. Rule 12(¢) Standard

In deciding a Rule 12(c) motion, courts “apply the same standard as that

applicable to a motion under Rule 12(b)(6).” Hayden v. Patef&g#hF.3d 150, 160 (2d

Cir. 2010). In order to survive a motion fadgment on the pleadings, a plaintiff must

have pleaded sufficient factual allegations “ttesta claim to relief that is plausible on its

face.” Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007Mesiano v. Warner-

Lambert & Co, 467 F.3d 85, 89 (2d Cir. 2006). A cfais facially plausible “when the

plaintiff pleads factual contentdhallows the court to draw the reasonable inference that

the defendant is liable for the subnduct alleged.” Ashcroft v. Ighal U.S. --, 129

S.Ct. 1937, 1949 (2009). The Court must acesptue all well-pleaded factual
allegations in the complaint, and “draw] ] all inferences in the plaintiff's favor.” Allaire

Corp. v. Okumus433 F.3d 248, 249-50 (2d Cir. 20q6uotations omitted).

In considering a motion to dismiss, a court may consider “any written instrument
attached to [the complaint] as an exhibiaoy statements or documents incorporated in

it by reference.”_Cortembus., Inc. v. Sum Holding L.P249 F.2d 42, 47 (2d Cir. 1991).

In addition, a court may consider a particularudoent, which is integral to the claims at

issue, of which the plaintiff has notice. Yak v. Bank Brussels Lam®@?tF.3d 127,

130-31 (2d Cir. 2001).
C. Discussion

1. Sections 4.26 and 5.5 Do Not Bar The Claims Asserted Here




Defendants first argue that Claims | through IV of Tide’s Complaint must be
dismissed because, in Sections 4.26 and 5theoAmended Agreement, Tide disclaims
reliance on any representations except tiseséorth in Article 1V of the Amended
Agreement. (Defs.” Mem. of Law inupport of Their Mot. for Judgment on the
Pleadings (“Defs.” Mem.”) at 10-14.) S&m 4.26 of the Amended Agreement (“Section
4.26"), entitled “Disclaimer of Additional Regsentations and Warranties,” provides, in
pertinent part, that Falcon

shall not be deemed to have madgTide] any representation or warranty

other than as expressly madetiis Article 1V or the schedules

accompanying Article IV Except as expressly detth in this Article IV,

[Falcon] disclaims all liability andesponsibility for any representation,

warranty, projection, forecast, satent, or information made,
communicated or furnished . . . to [Tide] . . ..

(Declaration of Richard T. Marooneytdd October 27, 2010 (“Marooney Decl.”)
Ex. 2 § 4.26 (emphasis added) (capitalization omitted$gction 5.5 of the
Amended Agreement (“Section 5.5”), entitfieliance,” provides that Tide “has
not relied on, nor is it relying on any statm, representation or warranty, either
express or implied, concerning [NorTex],. .other than those expressly made in
Article IV or the Schedules aompanying Article IV.” (1d.8 5.5 (emphasis
added).)

Tide, however, specificallglleges in its Complaint that it relied on two
representations made Befendants in Article IV Tide states that it relied on

representations in Section 4.9 of the Awnted Agreement (“Secin 4.9”) regarding the

¥The Court considers the Amended Agreenaertt the Financial Statements referenced
in Article IV of the Amended Agreement besauhey are integral to the Complaint and
incorporated in it by referencand they were documents tHatle had in its possession
and upon which it relied in bringing suit. Cortec Ind@€l9 F.2d at 47.
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accuracy of the Financial Statements Falcavidied in order to ascertain the value of
the pad gas in the storage reservoirs and teieatduel used to operate the facilities.
(Compl. 11 15, 20-21, 51-52.) Tide also statasitirelied on representations in Section
4.11 of the Amended Agreement (“Section 4.1th3gt there had not been any disposition
of material NorTex assebetween March 31, 2009 and thesthg. In its complaint,

Tide alleges that both didse Article 1V representationgere false. (Compl. {1 15, 20-
21, 51-52.)

a. Alleged Misrepresentation in Section 4.9

In pertinent partSection 4.9 states:

[e]lach balance sheet included in Firancial Statements (including the
related notes and schedulésgs been preparéuaccordance with GAAP
and fairly presents in all materigdspects the consolidated financial
position of [NorTex] and its Subsidiarias of the date of each such
balance sheet. . ..

(Marooney Decl. Ex. 2 § 4.9 (emphasis added).)

Tide alleges that Section 4.9 containsm@presentations because, contrary to its
terms, the Financial Statements (and relatds and schedules) do not “fairly present| ]
in all material respects the consolidatedncial position ofNorTex] and its
Subsidiaries . . . .” (I8 4.9.) Tide contends thatlaast two specific components of the

Financial Statements render that representation false.

*“Financial Statements” is defined to includg) “the audited condinlated balance sheet
of [NorTex] and its Subsidiaries asMfrch 31, 2009, the audited consolidated
statements of income, members’ equity arghdébows of [NorTex]and its Subsidiaries
for the twelve (12)-month period then edtieand (2) “the unadited consolidated
balance sheet of [NorTeghd its Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2009, the unaudited
consolidated statements of income, membegsiity and cash flows of [NorTex] and its
Subsidiaries for the nine (9)enth period then ended.” (18.1.1.)

-9-



First, “Note A” to the Fnancial Statements asMfrch 31, 2009 states that
NorTex “includes recoverable pad gas (cuslyas) as a componeot [the] property and
equipment [table in the financial statemeatthistorical cost.”(Declaration of Sean
Dolan dated September 9, 2010 (“Dolan DeclX) & at 7; Marooney Decl. Ex. 3 at 7.)
Tide states that, immediayehfter closing on the purchasf NorTex, it discovered a
shortfall in the quantities of pad and cus&rrgas and that the Financial Statements
therefore did not fairly present in all matdnespects NorTex’s consolidated financial
position. (Compl. 1 25.)

Second, the Financial Statementsue “Facility operating expenses” as a
component of “Operating Expenses.” (Dol&cl. Ex. A at 4; Marooney Decl. Ex. 3 at
4.) Tide states that Falcon failed to pndp@ccount for and record the fuel used to
compress gas in the storage facilities alsd omitted material information from the
operating expenses listed on theance sheet. (Compl. 1 27.)

Tide’s allegations regarding misrepresgiuns in Section 4.9 are sufficient to
state a plausible claim to refithat is not precluded byedtierms of Sections 4.26 or 5.5
of the Amended Agreement.

b. Alleged Misrepresentation in Section 4.11

In pertinent part, Section 4.11 states theither NorTex nor its subsidiaries
experienced a “Material Adverse Effectgr a “disposition of any material assets” since

March 31, 2009. (Dolan Decl. Ex. A4811; Marooney Decl. Ex. 2 § 4.11)

®>“Material Adverse Effect” is defined as “asyate of facts” that “is, or would [be]
reasonably likely to be . . . iaially adverse to the conditi (financial or otherwise),
business, results of operatiopsoperties, assets or lilities of [NorTex] and its
Subsidiaries taken as a whole..” (Amended Agreement 8 1.1.)
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Tide contends that, contrary to th@mesentation made in Section 4.11, NorTex
experienced a change in material assetsativersely affected its financial condition
during the relevant time period. (Compl.3PF36.) Defendants reply that Tide has
failed to allege “any facts showing what the alleged ‘Material AdvEftect’ actually is
or how [Tide’s] allegations fit within the defition of that term . ...” (Defs.” Mem. at
13.)

Tide alleges particular factgving rise to its claim. Fst, Tide alleges that, in
early 2009, NorTex management communicate@irtapita that thestorage facilities
were experiencing deliverability issues becanfsgas shortfalls(Compl. § 33.) Second,
Tide alleges that, in Odber 2009, Falcon and Arcapita re@s an engineering report
stating that either the gas inventory levels contained in the regulatory filings were
inaccurate or that one of the storage faciliies losing gas. (Compl.  34.) Third, Tide
alleges that, in late 2009 and early 2010¢cé@became aware that NorTex encountered
further deliverability problems because of the shortfalls in pad gas. (Compl. § 35.)

Defendants further contend that thexists no “benchmark” by which to
establish whether the alleged shortfall in pad constitutes a “Material Adverse Effect,”
because the Purchase Agreement contanmgpresentation regarding the amount or
value of pad gas present in the Facilitids previously discussed, the Amended
Agreement defines “Material Adverse Effect” to include “atgte of facts . . . that . . . is,
or would [be] reasonably likely to be . . . atseto the condition (fancial or otherwise)
... 0of [NorTex] . ...” (Marooney DeclXE2 § 1.1 (emphasis added)l'he facts alleged

by Tide would constitute a state of facteely to adversely affect the condition of
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NorTex. The Amended Agreement nowherguiees the satisfadn of any additional
benchmarks.

Tide’s allegations regarding misrepresgins in Section 4.11 are sufficient to
state a plausible claim to refithat is not precluded bydherms of Sections 4.26 or 5.5
of the Amended Agreement.

2. Tide’s Common Law Fraud Cinils Not Barred By Section 10.7

Defendants contend that Section 16f The Amended Agreement (“Section
10.7”) bars Tide’s common law fraud clairBection 10.7, entitled “Exclusive Remedy,”
states that the contractuatlemnification provisions che Amended Agreement provide
the exclusive remedy as to all claims reigtto the sale. (Marooney Decl. Ex. 2 § 10.7.)
Pursuant to Section 10.7, tharties purported to waive)(1any and all other rights,
claims and causes of action,” and (2) “any aldort claims and causes of action that
may . . . relate to this Agreement (includinydort claim or cause of action . . . related
to any representation or warranty made iimaronnection with this Agreement or as an
inducement to enter this Agreement.)” )Id.

New York courts enforce contractual warg and exculpatory provisions such as

those included in Sdon 10.7 of the Amended Agreement. See, dgtro. Life Ins.

Co. v. Noble Lowndes Int'l, In¢84 N.Y.2d 430, 436 (1994); Kalisch-Jarcho, Inc. v.

New York 58 N.Y.2d 377, 384 (1983); Baidinc. v. Reqister.com, Inc760 F. Supp. 2d

312, 317-18 (S.D.N.Y. 2010).
Nevertheless, “an exculpatory agreemeotmatter how flat and unqualified its
terms, will not exonerate a party from liabifitipr “willful or grossly negligent acts.”

Kalisch-Jarchp58 N.Y.2d at 384-85. See al$arkish v. Kasenet27 F.3d 23, 27-28
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(2d Cir. 1994) (“It is well settled that pe$ cannot use contractual limitation of liability
clauses to shield themselves from liabifity their own fraudulent conduct.”); Citibank,

N.A. v. Itochu Int'l, Inc, No. 01 Civ. 6007, 2003 WL 1797847, at *2 (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 4,

2003) (same). The New York Court of Appeals has emphasized that

an exculpatory clause is unenforceable when, in contravention of
acceptable notions of morality, the misconduct for which it would grant
immunity smacks of intentional wngdoing. This can be explicit, as
when it is fraudulent, malicious orgmpted by the sinister intention of
one acting in bad faith. Or, when,iaggross negligence, it betokens a
reckless indifference to the righa$ others, it may be implicit.

Kalisch-Jarcho, In¢58 N.Y.2d at 385. Whether the dealged conduct rises to the level

of “intentional wrongdoing” isa question of fact. Sd@avid Gutter Furs v. Jewelers Prot.

Servs., Ltd. 79 N.Y.2d 1027, 1028-29 (1998pmmer v. Fed. Signal Cor@9 N.Y.2d

540, 554 (1992); Kalisch-Jarcho, In68 N.Y.2d at 384-385.

Because Tide’s Complaint is replete watflegations that Defendants engaged in
intentional wrongdoing, the Court cannosmiiss Tide’s common law fraud claim
pursuant to Section 10°7.

3. Tide's Fraud Claims Are Sufficiently Pleaded

® In a footnote, Defendants argue that T8d@mmon law fraud claim should also be
dismissed as duplicative @ contract claim. (Selefs.” Mem. at 15 n.6.) As the
Second Circuit has noted, a fraud claim meyceed in tandem with a contract claim
where a defendant-seller allegedly misrepresfdcts as to the present condition of its
property, even though these faatsre warranted in the parsiecontract._Merrill Lynch

& Co. Inc. v. Allegheny Energy, Inc500 F.3d 171, 184 (2d Cir. 2007) (citing Jo Ann
Homes at Bellmore, Inc. v. Dworet25 N.Y.2d 112, 119-20 (1969)). That is, “New
York distinguishes between a promissory staenof what will be done in the future that
gives rise only to a breach of contract canfsaction and a misrepsentation of a present
fact that gives rise to a separate caussctbn for fraudulent inducement.”_Allegheny
Energy 500 F.3d at 184.
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Falcon and Arcapita argue that Tide@mmmon law fraud claim (First Cause of
Action) and its federal securities fraud clgiifourth Cause of Action) fall short of the
pleading standards required byl®Q(b) and the Private Sedies Litigation Reform Act
of 1995 (“PSLRA") 15 U.S.C. § 184(b). (Defs.” Mem. at 16.)

a. Elements of the Claims

To state a claim for a violation of Semti10(b) of the Secuies Exchange Act of
1934 and Rule 10b-5, “a plaintiffiust plead that the defemdain connection with the
purchase or sale of securities, made a materially false statement or omitted a material
fact, with scienter, and that the plaintiffaliance on the defendant’s action caused injury

to the plaintiff.” Ganino v. Citizens Utils. C®228 F.3d 154, 161 (2d Cir. 2000).

The elements of common law fraudNew York are “essentially the same” as
those that must be alleged to state axtlander Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5. Inre

Merrill Lynch Auction Rate Sec. LitigNo. 09 MD 2030, 2011 WL 1330847, at *11

(S.D.N.Y. Mar. 30, 2011) (quotations omittddpting that a plaintiff asserting a common
law fraud claim must show: (1) a materigbresentation or omission of fact; (2) made
with knowledge of its falsity; (3) with scienter an intent to defraud; (4) upon which the
plaintiff reasonably relied; an@) that such reliance caused damage to the plaintiff).

b. HeightenedPleadingStandards

Rule 9(b) of the Federal Rules of Citocedure sets fortieightened pleading
requirements for fraud claims: “In allegingufrd or mistake, a party must state with
particularity the circumstancesnstituting fraud or mistake. Malice, intent, knowledge,
and other conditions of a person’s mind mayleged generally.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b);

see alsdn re Pfizer Inc. Sec. Litig584 F. Supp. 2d 621, 632-33 (S.D.N.Y. 2008). This
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standard requires plaintiffs to “(1) specifyethtatements that the plaintiff contends were
fraudulent, (2) identify the speaker, (3) stateere and when the statements were made,

and (4) explain why the statements were fraudulent.” Rombach v. C3&mé&.3d 164,

170 (2d Cir. 2004) (citations omitted).

Plaintiffs alleging violations of the federal securities laws must, in addition to the
requirements of Rule 9(b), meet the heggi®d pleading standardet forth in the
PSLRA. In pertinent part, the PSLRA requirestsplaintiffs to “state with particularity

both the facts constituting the alleged [secesifraud] violation” and the other elements

of the 10(b) cause of action. Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights,9514.U.S. 308,

313 (2007). This standard requires plaintiff§tpspecify each statement alleged to have
been misleading and the reason or reasdmnsthe statement is misleading, and (2) state
with particularity facts giving rise to a “sing inference” that thdefendant acted with

the required state of mind. 15 U.S.C7/8—-4(b)(1)-(2); Teamsters Local 445 Freight

Div. Pension Fund v. Dynex Cap., In631 F.3d 190, 194 (2d Cir. 2008).

C. TheScienterElement

Plaintiffs may establish an inferencefiiudulent intent by alleging facts that, if
true, would (1) demonstrate that defenddmd both the motive and the opportunity to
commit fraud or (2) constitute strong airastantial evidence of the defendants’

conscious misbehavior or recklessnessrrtty Global Master Fund, Ltd. v. Morgan

Guar. Trust Cq.375 F.3d 168, 187 (2d Cir. 2004).

To qualify as “strong,” an “inference etienter must be more than merely
plausible or reasonable—it mus# cogent and at least compelling as any opposing

inference of nonfraudulent intent.” Tellabs, IMs51 U.S. at 314. The TellaB®ourt
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framed the inquiry as follows: “When tladlegations are accept@s true and taken
collectively, would a reasonaljerson deem the inference of scienter at least as strong
as any opposing inference?”_ ht.326.
The Second Circuit has summarized the foregoing by notatdhh requisite
“strong inference”
may arise where the complaint suffidigralleges that the defendants: (1)
benefitted in a concrete and personal way from the purported fraud; (2)
engaged in deliberately illegal befar; (3) knew facts or had access to

information suggesting that their pub$itatements were not accurate; or
(4) failed to check information they had a duty to monitor.

Dynex Cap., InG.531 F.3d at 194 (citing Novak v. Kasak46 F.3d 300, 311 (2d Cir.
2008)).

d. Tide’s Fraud Claims Are Pleaded With Particularity

Defendants contend that Tide’s fraud laishould be dismissed because they are
not pleaded with the particularity requirbg Rule 9(b) and the PSLRA. Specifically,
Defendants argue that Tide has not (1) spatifine statements that Tide alleges were
fraudulent (Defs.” Mem. at 16-17); or (2) pleabwith particularitythe falsity of the
representationat issue (idat 17; Defs.” Reply at 5).

As previously noted, the Complaint allegeith specificity that Sections 4.9 and
4.11 of the Amended Agreement contained fraudulent statementsC¢8g#. 1 20-21,
51-52, 59, 66 (quoting from Sections 4.9 and 4.1T)de has specified statements in the
Amended Agreement, identified Falcon as ffarty that made the statements, and
explained what facts lead Tide believe the statements were fraudulent. Tide has thus

satisfied the requirements of Rule 9(k)haregard to its claims against Falcon.
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Although the Complaint’s allegations agdiAscapita are not enodel of clarity,
the Complaint does contain specific allegations of misrepresentations made by the
Arcapita entities (Compl. 1 14-18; 22-24-28; 31-36.) For instance, the Complaint
states that in January 2010 the Arcapitiedéants, together with Falcon, provided
Financial Statements for NorTex thaintained inaccurate information regarding
inventories of pad gas and operategpenses from fuel consumption. (14l. 15-16.)
Similarly, the Complaint alleges that, in the cipf due diligencehe Arcapita entities
and Falcon together provided Tide wits@ecific memorandum &tied “NGL Material
Balance & Shrink,” a particular Microsoft Egl file, and a slide presentation entitled
“Material Balance.” (Idf 22.) Tide alleges specifiadts indicating thafrcapita knew
that these documents were inaccurate buerleeless provided them in response to
Tide’s queries, with thexpectation that Tide would rely on them. ¥f.22-23; 33-35.)
Thus, the Complaint specifies false or deceptive statements it alleges were made by
Arcapita and the contexts in which theyresenade, as well as the reasons why Tide
believes they are false. The Complaint ifisiently pleaded to give Arcapita notice of
the claims with which they are charged wiitie particularity rquired by Rule 9(b).

Goldman v. Belden754 F.2d 1059, 1069-70 (2d Cir. 198bhding the complaint

specific enough that it “gives each defendaniceadf precisely what he is charged with.
No more is required by Rule 9(b).”).

In light of the foregoing, the Court findisat Tide has pleaded its fraud claims
with regard to Falcon and Arcapita withetparticularity requid by Rule 9(b).

e. Tide Has Alleged Facts Givingdeito a Strong Inference of Scienter
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Defendants contend that Tide’s comntaw fraud and federal securities fraud
claims should be dismissed because treynot supported by allegations establishing
scienter. However, Tide has alleged facti@ant to give to the “strong inference” of
scienter that is required.

First, Tide alleges that the Defendants wasare of the existence of “shortfalls”
in, and depletions of, pad gas at NorTex&ilities. Tide clans that, in early 2009,
NorTex management advised Arcapita thatFacilities had “deliverability issues’
related to [pad] gas shortfalls.” (Compl3¥.) Falcon and Arcapitlegedly declined to
purchase additional pad gas to remedy the shortfallg. Alccording to Tide,
Defendants instead caused NorTex to einter“park-and-loan” arrangements in which
NorTex “borrowed” pad gas from other sources. ) (I8uch arrangements allegedly
“concealed the depleted padsgand did nothing to correctehnaccurate records, flawed
processes, and shoddy operations and recoroligetiyat led to the overstatement of the
guantities and values of the pad@ad customer gas . .. .” {(IdTide also alleges that,
in late 2009 and early 2010, Falcon managersamhed that NorTex “was encountering
additional deliverability issuedue specifically to shortfallgn] and depletion of pad
gas.” (1d.1 35.)

Second, Tide alleges that, in ooand October 2009, Defendants received a
report from Platt, Sparks & Associates, whinhde it clear that gasventories reported
in NorTex’s regulatory filings were inaccurate that one of NorTex’s Facilities was
losing gas. (1d] 34.)

Third, Tide alleges that Bendants (1) failed to condutregular and consistent

shut-in pressure testing and related volumoelculations andheasurements of the
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guantities of gas within the Storage Faa@kti’ and thus (2) failed to ensure that
NorTex’s financial records were accurate. {Jd1.) According to Tide, such failures
“occurred during a period when deliveratyilproblems indicated a critical need to
perform these tests, calculations, and mesamants[,] and to properly analyze and report
the results.” (19.

Defendants allegedly failed to account for the foregoing, known inaccuracies in
the Financial Statements. (See, ad) . 33-35, 72.) Tide hadeded facts that, if true,
would constitute strong circustantial evidence of Defendahtonscious misbehavior or

recklessness. Sédgernity Global Master Fund, Ltd375 F.3d at 187. Accepted as true,

Tide’s allegations would give rise to thiderence (1) that Defendants knew that the
representations in Sections 4.9 and 4.1thefPurchase Agreement were false, see
Novak 216 F.3d at 311; or (2) that Defendantedaecklessly, because they knew facts
or had access to information suggesting sitatements made in Sections 4.9 and 4.11
were not accurate. Sak

The Court finds that the resulting infecenof scienter is “cogent and at least as
compelling as any opposing infeanof nonfraudulent intent.” Sé&ellabs 551 U.S. at
314. That is, when Tide’s allegations arecepted as true[,] and taken collectively,” the
Court concludes that a reasonable person wagdndthe inference of scienter at least as

strong as any opposing inference.; ldee alsdNovak 216 F.3d at 308.

D. Summary

For the foregoing reasons, Defendants’ motion for a judgment on the pleadings is
DENIED.

Il. Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment
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A. Defendants’ Motion

Falcon and Arcapita answered Tid€emplaint and Falcon also filed a
Counterclaim and Crossclaim. Falcon #rdapita now move for partial summary
judgment on two claims. (Dkt. No. 32.) First, Defendants move for summary judgment
on Tide’s Fifth Cause of Action, arguing that,aashatter of law, Tide is not entitled to a
permanent injunction restraining the fundshe Escrow Account. Second, Defendants
move for summary judgment on their first crdasu, arguing that Falcon is entitled to
the immediate disbursement of alhfis remaining in the Escrow Account.

B. Summary Judgment Standard

Summary judgment must lgganted where, based on the pleadings, the discovery
and disclosure materials, and any affidavitse movant shows that there is no genuine
dispute as to any material fact and the mowaettitled to judgment as a matter of law.”

Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a); se¢soCelotex Corp. v. Catrett77 U.S. 317, 322-23 (1986).

“The role of the court in deciding a moti for summary judgment ‘is not to resolve
disputed issues of fact butagsess whether there are anyuakissues to be tried, while
resolving ambiguities and drawing reasonable inferences against the moving party.”

Wilson v. Nw. Mut. Ins. Cq.625 F.3d 54, 59-60 (2d Cir. 2010) (quoting Knight v. U.S.

Fire Ins. Co.804 F.2d 9, 11 (2d Cir. 1986)). A “genuilssue of materidiact” exists if
the evidence is such thateasonable jury could find fiavor of the non-moving party.

SCR Joint Venture L.P. v. Warshawskp9 F.3d 133, 137 (2d Cir. 2009). A “material”

fact is one that might “affect the outcomiethe suit under thgoverning law.” _Id. The

moving party bears “the burden @émonstrating that no materfakt exists.”_Miner v.
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Clinton Cnty., N.Y, 541 F.3d 464, 471 (2d Cir. 200@)ting McCarthy v. Dun &

Bradstreet Corp482 F.3d 184, 202 (2d Cir. 2007)).

In determining whether summary judgmbés appropriate, the Court must
construe the evidence in a light most falde to the non-moving party and draw all
reasonable inferences in thparty’s favor. _Sledge v. Kopb64 F.3d 105, 108 (2d Cir.

2009) (citing_Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inet77 U.S. 242, 247-50, 255 (1986)). To

avoid summary judgment, the non-moving pamust show sufficient evidence to
support a claimed factual dispute, such thatlge or jury is requed to resolve differing

versions of events. Sé&gessler v. WestchestenoGnty Dep't of Soc. Servs461 F.3d

199, 206 (2d Cir. 2006) (citing Andersotv7 U.S. at 248-49). Where the non-moving
party relies on an affirmative defensed&feat summary judgme that party must
adduce evidence which—when viewed in a ligiast favorable tthat party, and when
drawing all reasonable inferences in thatty’s favor—“would permit judgment for the

non-moving party on the basisthbiat defense.”_Internet halibrary, Inc. v. Southridge

Capital Mgmt., LLC No. 01 Civ. 6600, 2005 WL 3370542, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 12,

2005); see alsestRM-West Risk Mkts., Ltd. v. Lumbermens Mut. Cas, Gd4 F.

Supp. 2d 229, 232 (S.D.N.Y. 2004).

C. Tide's Fifth Cause of Action

In its Fifth Cause of Action, Tide gks “a permanent inpction restraining
Falcon and HSBC from disbungj any funds from the Escrow Account, except pursuant
to the Expense Notices referenced in Section 3.7 of the Purchase Agreement.” (Compl.
79.) Tide has not at thgoint moved for summary judgmieon this, or any, claim and it

is not clear from the Complaint whether Tidéends to seek iapctive relief during the
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litigation or only at its corlasion. Falcon and Arcapita, however, move for summary
judgment arguing that Tide is not, as a mattdawf entitled to a penanent injunction.

The Defendants cite to Grupo Mexicas® Desarrollo S.A. v. Alliance Bond

Funding, Inc, in which the Supreme Court considémwhether, in an action for money
damages, a district court has the powessnieé a preliminary injunction that prevents a
defendant from transferring assets in which no lien or equitable interest is claimed. 527
U.S. 308, 310 (1999). The Court held thatsdrdit court lacks the authority to issue a
preliminary injunction restraining a defendarfunds pending adjudication of a damages

claim. Id.at 333. The significance of Grupo Mexicamas that the plaintiff in that case

was seeking a preliminangjunction “that would render unlawfutonduct that would
otherwise be permissible, indar to protect the anticipat@geigment of the court.”_Idat
315.

Unless and until Tide moves for an injtina, Falcon’s and Arcapita’s motion for
summary judgment is prematur&€he Court accordingly DENIES Defendants’ motion
for partial summary judgment dismisgi Tide’s Fifth Cause of Action.

D. Falcon’s First Cause of Action

Falcon also moves for partial summargigment on its request for declaratory
relief as set forth in its CounterclaimdCrossclaim. Specifically, Falcon seeks a
judgment declaring that HEC “should disburse the @®w funds to Falcon in

accordance with the parties’ agreemseh (Countercl. § 3;_see algh 71 30-32.) Tide

asserts that such agreements are not enfdecbabause they were procured by fraud.

1. Thresholdssues
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The Court must resolve two threshold ssibefore considering whether Falcon is
entitled to partial summanjudgment on this claim.

First, the Court considerghether any provisions in the Agreements bar Tide’s
fraud-based affirmative defense. Second,@lourt examines Fala’s contention that
Tide’s “further” performance under the Agreements cannot be excused, because Tide has
already fully performed by gang the contractual purchase price for NorTex and the
money in the Escrow Account. (SBefs.” Reply at 5-7.)

a. Waiver of Claims and Disclaimer of Representations

The Court first considers whether Tio@y assert its fraud-based affirmative
defense to performance of its obligatiamgler the Amended Agreements. As in its
motion for a judgment on the pleadings, Falagain contends that Tide is precluded
from raising any fraud-related arguments becglis&ide waived its right to assert tort
“claims and causes of action” in Section 1@id (2) the alleged misrepresentations are
not actionable under Section 4.26, which lzaparty from relying on representations
extrinsic to Article IV of the Purchase fggment (“Article 1V”). The Court briefly
reexamines each of Falcon’s contentions.

Section 10.7 states that the contwatindemnification provisions of the
Agreement provide the exclusive remedy aaltelaims relating to the Agreement.
(Declaration of Jeremiah J. AndersonetbAugust 31, 2010 (“Anderson Decl.”) Ex. A §

10.7.) Atissue now, however, is whether Falisantitled to summary judgment on its

First Cause of Actiomnotwithstanding Tide’assertion of an affirmative defense

Section 10.7 does not, by its terms, waing affirmative defenses, and Falcon does not

argue otherwise. Section 10.7 includes “claamd causes of action,” but an affirmative
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defense is not a claim but “a lineal desdent of the common law plea by way of
‘confession and avoidance.” 5 C. Wright& Miller, Federal Practice & Procedure §

1270 (3d ed.). The Court therefore finds that Section 10.7 does not bar Tide’s affirmative
defense.

Falcon similarly argues thdide cannot, consistemtith Section 4.26 of the
Purchase Agreement, “allege a fraud clalma%ed on misrepresatibns extrinsic to
Article IV. (Defs.” SJReply at 8; see aldoefs.” SJ Mem. at 10.) As previously
discussed, Section 4.26 provides that Falcon “sizilbe deemed to have made to [Tide]
any representation or warranty other thaexzessly made in this Article IV or the
schedules accompanying Article IV(Anderson Decl. Ex. A § 4.26 (capitalization
omitted).) Tide has submitted evidence in conjunction with this motion for summary
judgment to further bolster its claims tlsétements in Sections 4.9 and 4.11 are false.

In its Rule 56.1 statements and aopanying declarations, Tide has submitted
evidence to the effect that Defendantsatdtl the value of pad gas included in the
Financial Statements by approximately $30 million. (Compl. § 73; Pl.’s
Counterstatement. {1 90-94, 102-Déjan Decl. 11 13-14, 22-24; i#x. A-F, G.) Tide
has also submitted evidence to the effecttimat-inancial Statements failed to include
the value of fuel burned asmaf the “facility operatingexpenses,” and that Defendants
thus misstated such expenses by approximately $40 million. (Compl.  73; Pl.’s
Counterstatement §{ 95-1@glan Decl. 1 16; idEx. A; Declaration of Mike Gallup
dated September 9, 2010 (“Gallup Decl.”) 1 22.) The foregoing evidence gives rise to an

issue of fact as to whether the represemtatontained in Sectioh9 that the Financial
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Statements fairly presented in all materesdpects the consolidatédancial position of
NorTex was fraudulent.

Tide also alleges that statementSettion 4.11 are false because NorTex did
experience a material adverse effect betwdarch 31, 2009 and the closing date. Tide
offers evidence demonstrating that, in 2009 and early 2010, Falcon management became
aware that NorTex was encountering delivergbissues due specifaly to shortfalls
and depletion of pad gas. (Gallup DecB9Y Exs. U-V.) Tide &ges that Defendants
did not disclose such issues to Tide.al{( Decl. § 23.) Following its purchase of
NorTex, Tide states that it lesad that NorTex at that poihaad a shortfall in pad gas of
over 6 billion cubic feet. _(I1df 14-15.) NorTex cannoperate its business absent
sufficient pad gas._(Id] 7.) The foregoing evidence raisgsissue of fact as to whether,
contrary to the representation expresslylenen Section 4.11, NorTex experienced a
“Material Adverse Effect” or a “disposition @y material assétduring the relevant
time period.

In light of the foregoing, the Coufihds that Sections 10.7 and 4.26 do not
preclude Tide from offering evidence with respto its fraud-based affirmative defense.

b. RemainindPerformance

Falcon contends that Tide’s furtherfoemance under the Agreements cannot be
excused because Tide has already fullygreréd and the money in the Escrow Account
belonged to Falcon as soon as the@s conditions were met. (S&efs.’ Reply at 5.)

Section 3 of the Escrow Agreementtitéed “Distributions from the Escrow
Account,” states that the Eseved Amount “shall be . . . transferred only in accordance

with Section 3.7 of the [Amended Agreement{Anderson Decl. Ex. C § 3.) Section 3.7
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of the Amended Agreement provides that, ugenoccurrence of either of the defined
Escrow Breakage Triggers, the parties “stallver to [HSBC] joint instructions to
disburse the balance of the Escrowed Amount . .. ."E}dB 8§ 3.7(a).) Tide
acknowledges that the Escrow Breakagggers have been satisfied, (ddarooney
Decl. Ex. 9; Conf. Tr. 4:12), butontends that Defendantsafrd excuses Tide from fully
performing Section 3.7—i.gfrom issuing joint instructions to HSBC to release the
Escrowed Amount to Falcon.

Falcon disputes the contention thaly non-ministeriabbligation under the
Agreements remains to be performed. (Beés.’ Reply at 7 n.6 (“The [Amended
Agreement] does not give plaintiffs discogtiin instructing the Escrow Agent.”).)
According to Falcon, “[w]hat ditles [it] to the release dhe funds is not the joint
instructions, but the satisfaan of the escrow conditions.{Defs.” Reply at 7.)

Under New York law, property in essw should be releas only after the

conditions precedent are satisfied. 8eee Pan Trading Corp., S.A25 B.R. 869, 878

(Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 1991) (“Only after the requescconditions are safied, can an escrow
be fully transferred to the grise.”). Courts are generallyluetant to override the clear

terms of an escrow agreement. Netherby Ltd. v. G.V. LicensingNnc92-4239, 1995

WL 491489, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 17, 1995) (éBause there are no reasons to override
the clear terms of the amended escrow agee¢nand because none of the conditions for
release of the escrowed funds containetth#t agreement have been met, plaintiff's
motion [to compel release of escrowed fundsjesied.”). In the case before the Court,
however, the conditions for the release ofdkerowed funds contained in the agreement

have been met, creating a valid reason toraeits terms. Nevertheless, Tide argues
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that fraud in the inducement of the contraetams it should not beqgeired to perform its
obligations.

Because Tide claims that its remainpgrformance is excused by Falcon’s fraud,
the Court must determine whether Tide hasegres] specific facts related to that defense

showing that there is a genaiissue of material fattSee, e.gInternet Law Library,

Inc., 2005 WL 3370542, at *4. The Coumdw turns to that inquiry.
3. Discussion

a. ApplicableLaw

Pursuant to New York lafia party may not compel performance of an agreement

that was induced by fraud. Nat'l Union Fire Ins. Co. v. T892 F.2d 199, 203 (2d

Cir. 1989) (citing cases).

To withstand Defendants’ motion forramary judgment based on a defense of
fraudulent inducement, Tide must comenfard with evidence that would allow a
reasonable jury to find, byear and convincing evidené¢hat each of the elements of

fraud has been satisfied. BB Corp. Fin. Ltd. v. Schuste877 F. Supp. 820, 826

(S.D.N.Y. 1994). Accordingly, Tide mustfer facts showing that there is a genuine

’ Falcon cites to Marriott Corp. v. Rogers & Wel88 N.Y.S.2d 330 (1st Dep't 1981),
for the proposition that the Escrowed Amoubélonged to Falcon, subject only to the
satisfaction of the escrow conditions.” (Defs.” Reply at 6.) As the Court has noted,
however, the escrow “conditions” here hamet been satisfied. __ Marriott Corps
inapposite for another reason: the party oppo#iegtransfer of escrowed funds in that
case did not raise an affirmative defense atifi; indeed, there wer issues of fact
warranting a denial of summary judgnh@mthat case. 438 N.Y.S.2d at 331.

® The Purchase Agreement is governed bylates of the State of New York. (Anderson
Decl. Ex. A§11.5))

® See Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.477 U.S. 242, 255 (1986) (“[C]lear-and-
convincing standard of proof should heken into accounin ruling on summary
judgment motions”); Glidepath Hiting B.V. v. Spherion CorpNo. 04 Civ. 9758, 2010
WL 1372553, at *5, (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 26, 2010).
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issue for trial as to the following elements) (iat Defendants made a representation, (2)
as to a material fact, (3) which was falé@®,and known to be false by Defendants, (5)
that was made for the purpose of inducing Taeely upon it, (6) that Tide “rightfully

did so rely,” (7) in ignorance of ifalsity, (8) to Tide’s injury._Se€ohen v. Koenig25

F.3d 1168, 1172 (2d Cir. 1994)témnet Law Library, In¢.2005 WL 3370542, at *5;

Cont'l Airlines, Inc. v. Lelakis943 F. Supp. 300, 305 (S.D.N.Y. 1996).

b. Application of Law to Facts

In opposing the instant motion fpartial summary judgment, Tide has
adduced patrticularized evidence that woudllovaa reasonable jury to find, by clear and
convincing evidence, that each of the elets@f fraud has been satisfied. Sshuster
877 F. Supp. at 826. As previously discussed, Tide has demonstrated that Falcon made
two principal representations in Article 1V tife Purchase Agreentahat were allegedly
false: (1) that “[c]omplete and accurate @wpof the Financial Statements have been
made available to [Tide],” and that “pejh balance sheet included in the Financial
Statements (including the related notes and sdbgdu. . fairly presents in all material
respects the consolidateddincial position of [NorTex],(Anderson Decl. Ex. A § 4.9);
and (2) that since March 31, 2009, NorTex has not experienced a “disposition of any
material assets” or a “MateriAldverse Effect,” which is defied as “any state of facts”
that is “materially adverse to the conditioméncial or otherwisebusiness, results of
operations, properties, assetdiabilities of [NorTex] . .. .” (Anderson Decl. Ex. A §
4.9, 8 1.1.) These alleged misrepresentatiwhg;h related to the value of NorTex’s

current assets, were “plainly” material. See,, é&ghen 25 F.3d at 1172 (stating that
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defendant’s alleged overstatem®regarding net income and the value of current assets
“plainly were representations as to material facts”).

Tide has also proffered sufficient evidencedise issues of faeis to whether the
alleged misrepresentations were (1) knowhedalse by Falcon, and (2) made for the
purpose of inducing Tide to rely on them. Fif@tje presents evidence to the effect that,
by 2009, both Falcon and Arcapita knew thateéhgas a shortfall of pad gas at one of
NorTex’s Facilities and that Defendauiscussed restatingorTex’s Financial
Statements to address this shortfall, fexer did so. (Pl.’s 56.1 Counterstatement 1
133-35, 139-43; Gallup Decl. 11 37-39, ExsVl)- Second, the evidence permits a
reasonable inference that Defendants maéalleged misrepresentations for the purpose
of inducing Tide’s relianceSection 10.6 of the Purcha&greement states that each
party “shall be entitled to rely upon thepresentations, warranties, covenants and
agreements of the other Party set forthimere. .” (Anderson Decl. Ex. A § 10.6.)

Finally, the proffered evidence creataalite issues as to whether Tide (1)
reasonably relied on the alleged misrepresemsiti2) in ignorancef their falsity, and
(3) to Tide’s injury. Tide has submittedstenony to the effect that it relied on the
alleged misrepresentations in igaoce of their falsity. (See, e.@olan Decl. § 39; Pl.’s
56.1 Counterstatement § 161.) The reasonablefeskance is ordinarily a question of

fact left to a jury._Glidepath Holding B.V2010 WL 1372553, at *8. Tide has also

submitted evidence of the adverse consecgenf Defendants’ alleged fraud. (See

Gallup Decl. 11 41-50; Pl.’s 56Qounterstatement 9 166-175.)
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Because Tide has come forward withdewce that would allow a reasonable jury
to find, by clear and convincing evidence, thath of the elements of fraud has been
satisfied, Falcon is not, at leastthis juncture, entitled tihe declaratory relief it seekS.

F. Summary

For the reasons stated above, the CAYrDENIES Falcon’s and Arcapita’s
motion for partial summary judgment dismisgiTide’s Fifth Causef Action; and (2)
DENIES Falcon’s and Arcapita’s motionrfpartial summary judgment on the First
Cause of Action of its Counterclaim. (Dkt. No. 32.)

. Tide’s Motion to Attach the Escrowed Funds

Tide cross-moves for an order of attachnifiit the event that this Court” grants
Falcon’s motion for partial summary judgment. ($¢é&s Mem., Dkt. No. 77, at 2; see
alsoPl.’s Mem., Dkt. No. 38, at 24.)

Because the Court has denied Falcanégion for partial summary judgment,

Tide’s motion for attachment is DEED as moot. (Dkt. No. 82.)

9 In light of this conclsion, the Court need not agds whether Tide’s further
performance of the Purchase Agreemenexsused by Defendants’ alleged material
breach of the Purchase Agreement. (Bks Opp. at 21-22.)
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V. Conclusion

The Court has considered Defendants’ remaining contentions and finds them to be
without merit. For the reasons stated above, the Court (a) DENIES Defendants’ motion
for judgment on the pleadings (Dkt. No. 94); (b) DENIES Defendants’ motion for partial
summary judgment (Dkt. Entry No. 32.); and (c) DENIES Tide’s cross-motion for an
order of attachment (Dkt. No. 82).

By no later than October 28, 2011, the parties shall submit via ECF and facsimile
a Joint Status Letter detailing how they intend to proceed, and whether they wish to be
referred to a magistrate judge for settlement discussions. The parties shall attach to their
Joint Status Letter a Scheduling Order that provides for this case to be tried no later than

January 17, 2012.

SO ORDERED.

DATED: New York, New York
September g, 2011

KIMBA M. WOOD
United States District Judge
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